FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 3/25/2021 4:13 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/26/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99599-1
Court of Appeals # 53433-9-II
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
DANIEL P. BAKKER,
Petitioner.
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY The Honorable Carol Murphy, Judge
PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK, No. 23879 Attorney for Petitioner

> RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE 1037 N.E. 65th Street. # 176 Seattle, Washington 98115 (206) 782-3353

C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 10
	REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO ADDRESS THE SCOPE AND LIMITS OF EVIDENCE RULE 404(b) WHEN THE EVIDENCE IN QUESTION IS CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED CONDUCT WHICH IS ONLY MARGINALLY RELEVANT
F.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 74 P.3d 119 (2003) 11, 13-15
<u>State v. Everybodytalksabout</u> , 145 Wn.2d 456, 39 P.3d 294 (2002) 12
<u>State v. Frampton</u> , 95 Wn.2d 469, 627 P.2d 922 (1981)
<u>State v. Gresham</u> , 173 Wn.2d 405, 269 P.3d 207 (2012) 11, 13, 14
<u>State v. Jackson</u> , 102 Wn.2d 689, 689 P.2d 76 (1984) 17
<u>State v. Jeffries</u> , 105 Wn.2d 398, 717 P.2d 722, <u>cert</u> . <u>denied sub nom Jeffries v. Washington</u> . 479 U.S. 922 (1986)
<u>State v. Krantz</u> , 24 Wn.2d 350, 164 P.2d 453 (1945)
<u>State v. Lloyd</u> , 138 Wash. 8, 244 P. 130 (1926)11
<u>State v. Robinson</u> , 24 Wn.2d 909, 167 P.2d 986 (1946)
<u>State v. Rupe</u> , 101 Wn.2d 664, 683 P.2d 571 (1984)
<u>State v. Schelin</u> , 147 Wn.2d 562, 55 P.3d 632 (2002)
<u>State v. Smith</u> , 106 Wn.2d 772, 725 P.2d 951 (1986)
<u>State v. Tharp</u> , 96 Wn.2d 591, 637 P.2d 961 (1981)
State v. Vy Thang, 145 Wn.2d 630, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002)
WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS
State v. Bakker, Wn. App (2021 WL 689189)

FEDERAL CASELAW

<u>Griffin v. California</u> , 380 U.S. 609, 614, 85 S. Ct. 1229, 14 L. Ed. 2d 106 (1965)
RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
Article 1, § 24
ER 403
ER 404(b)
RCW 10.99.020
RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a)
RCW 9A.36.041(4)
RCW 9A.46.020(1)
RCW 9A.76.170(3)(c) 4
Second Amondment

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/DECISION BELOW

Daniel P. Bakker, Petitioner, asks this Court to grant review under RAP 13.4(b) of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals, Division Two, in <u>State v. Bakker</u>, __ Wn. App. ___ (2021 WL 689189) (No. 53433-9-II), entered on February 23, 2021. A copy of the decision is attached as an Appendix.

B. OVERVIEW OF ARGUMENT FOR REVIEW

Over defense objection, the trial court admitted evidence of Petitioner Daniel Bakker's lawful gun ownership, even though there was no use or or threat to use the weapon during the lengthy incident and the only threats were to "beat" people up. The State argued the evidence was relevant to prove the victim had "reasonable fear" of Mr. Bakker for the misdemeanor harassment charge and that it showed why his girlfriend, a victim, wanted to keep Mr. Bakker from the bedroom where he was trying to go to sleep, because the gun was in a closet in that room. The evidence at trial already included testimony from the girlfriend that she had removed steak knives from the dinner table out of fear.

Mr. Bakker argued that the evidence he lawfully possessed a gun was highly prejudicial and would likely cause the jury to see it as "propensity" evidence of Mr. Bakker as a "dangerous" guy and thus more likely to commit the charged crimes.

The trial court first held that ER 404(b) did not apply because the State did not want to admit the evidence for "propensity." The court then applied the general ER 403 analysis and said there was "some prejudice" from the evidence but only minimal because the evidence involved lawful gun ownership not any use of a gun in a crime. The Court of Appeals held that ER 404(b) did not apply because the State was not offering the gun evidence as "character evidence." App. A at 8. The appellate court also held that the potential prejudice did not outweigh the probative value under ER 403, because even if "being a gun owner is inherently a prejudicial activity," the evidence would be admissible unless that prejudice "substantially outweighed its probative value" under ER 403. App. A at 11. The Court found it relevant and probative for the jury to understand Ms. Pardo trying to keep Mr. Bakker out of the bedroom. App. A at 11.

This Court should grant review and should hold that ER 404(b) applies in cases where, as here, the State seeks to introduce evidence of lawful gun ownership against the accused in a trial where no gun was ever used or threatened to be used and a proper ER 404(b) objection is made. Further, the trial court and Division Two glossed over the very significant prejudice lawful gun ownership engenders despite this Court's recognition in Rupe that such prejudice exists. In addition, Article 1, § 24, and the Second Amendment protect the right to lawful gun ownership, so the issue involves the State attempting to use constitutionally protected behavior against an accused at trial, which requires the reviewing

court consider not only the prejudice the gun evidence itself will cause but also the chilling effect on those constitutional rights.

Where, as here, the evidence of that exercise is cumulative of other evidence of "reasonable fear" and only minimally relevant, this Court should hold that the admission of evidence of lawful gun ownership is far more prejudicial than probative.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does ER 404(b) apply when the State seeks to introduce evidence of lawful gun ownership into a trial in which the gun was never used or threatened to be used and did the trial court and the Court of Appeals err in holding otherwise?
- 2. In State v. Rupe, 101 Wn.2d 664, 683 P.2d 571 (1984), this Court recognized the inherent prejudice of evidence of even lawful gun ownership, based on the strong, personal reactions such evidence engenders and the extreme risk it will be used as improper "propensity" evidence of dangerousness. Does the ruling of the Court of Appeals run afoul of Rupe by minimizing that prejudice?
- 3. Article 1, § 24, and the Second Amendment protect the right to lawful gun ownership, subject only to reasonable limits under the State's police power. Where the State seeks to use evidence of such constitutionally protected behavior against an accused at trial, must the reviewing court consider not only the prejudice the gun evidence itself will cause but also the chilling effect on those constitutional rights?
- 4. Was the evidence inadmissible under ER 404(b), because it was cumulative, only minimally relevant and extremely prejudicial and must the case be reversed and remanded for a new trial?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Daniel Bakker was charged in Thurston county

with second-degree assault, fourth-degree assault ("domestic violence"), harassment ("domestic violence"), and bail jumping. CP 29-30; RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a); RCW 9A.36.041(4); RCW 9A.46.020(1); RCW 9A.76.170(3)(c); RCW 10.99.020.

After trial, the jury did not agree with the State's claims regarding the second-degree assault and found Mr. Bakker not guilty of that charge but instead guilty of a "lesser" of fourth-degree assault and the other crimes as charged. CP 324-26.

The charges stemmed from an incident involving Mr. Bakker, his girlfriend, Kaela Pardo, and a work friend, Zackary Quisenberry, at Bakker and Pardo's home. CP 327-31; TRP 179, 181, 308, 345, 489, 569. Everyone admitted that Pardo's dog got kept getting out and that was a big part of the dispute. TRP 200, 234-35, 309-12, 347, 516-32. But Quisenberry, Pardo and Bakker had different versions of events. To understand why review should be granted, a brief overview of the evidence is requried.

Mr. Quisenberry and Ms. Pardo agreed that Mr. Bakker had been drinking and was angry about the two men having to keep going to find Ms. Pardo's dog because he kept getting out. TRP 200, 234-35. Mr. Quisenberry and Ms. Pardo had some other points of agreement about the incident, but there was much they remembered quite differently.

For example, Mr. Quisenberry went to the store early in the evening and when he came back, saw that Mr. Bakker was holding

Ms. Pardo's wrists, but dropped them right away. TRP 314. Ms. Pardo claimed that Mr. Bakker was holding her wrists and did not let go until Mr. Quisenberry ordered him to, but Mr. Quisenberry did not recall having to say anything. TRP 239-40, 314.

In another example, Ms. Pardo was positive that Mr. Bakker was holding Mr. Quisenberry so tight in a headlock at when the two men were "roughhousing" that it "was cutting off" Mr. Quisenberry's air and so severe that Mr. Quisenberry told her to call police. TRP 320. Indeed, Ms. Pardo described Mr. Quisenberry's face as turning red and eyes "bulging." TRP 320. Mr. Quisenberry, however, was positive that he was only briefly in a headlock during the wrestling and could still breathe. TRP 226-27.

The incident lasted several hours with things being fine at points and other moments of alleged aggression by Mr. Bakker, according to Ms. Pardo and Mr. Quisenberry, but with lots of difference in the details. See, e.g., TRP 184-88, 242, 314-56 (question about when Mr. Bakker tried to leave to go to a hotel); TRP 316-17, 360-61 (question of whether Ms. Pardo was outside with Mr. Quisenberry at one point as she recalled or not, as he recalled); TRP 189, 317, 361-62) (question whether at some point Mr. Bakker was "crawling in the grass and watching" Ms. Pardo and Mr. Quisenberry outside as she said or whether Mr. Bakker had lain down in the grass as if he was going to sleep, as Mr. Quisenberry perceived).

Testimony about parts of the incident changed, too, like Ms.

Pardo's initial claim that Mr. Bakker had been yelling at her and grabbed her wrists without any provocation, then contradicted by her ultimate admission on cross-examination that *she* was the one who made first physical contact with *him*, after which he grabbed her wrists. TRP 351-52. Initially Mr. Quisenberry and Mr. Pardo said they told Mr. Bakker not to drive because he was too drunk and Mr. Bakker then walked away from the property. TRP 182, 189, 242. On cross-examination, Mr. Quisenberry admitted that he and Ms. Pardo had confronted Mr. Bakker at his car, physically trying to remove the keys from him, with Mr. Quisenberry not only reaching into the vehicle over Mr. Bakker in the driver's seat to change the gear on the car to park but also grabbing Mr. Bakker from the seat and forcibly pulling him from it - against Mr. Bakker's will. TRP 243-48.

Ultimately, at the end of the evening, when Mr. Bakker tried to go into their bedroom to go to sleep, Ms. Pardo refused to let him in, blocking the way. TRP 332-33. She told him he was "not invited into the bedroom at that time." TRP 332-33. Her dog was in the bedroom and she planned to sleep there, too, she said, so she told Mr. Bakker to go sleep on the couch. TRP 332. This made Bakker very angry and he started yelling, saying he wanted to go to bed. TRP 332-33. Mr. Quisenberry, who was outside, saw Ms. Pardo try to get into their bedroom and it appeared Mr. Bakker wanted to follow and that he had Ms. Pardo up against the wall. TRP 257. When Mr. Quisenberry went inside and told Mr. Bakker to back off, they were

talking and Mr. Bakker "just bent over and charged," hitting Mr. Quisenberry in the knee, causing a sharp pain and making him fall. TRP 202-203, 264.

Mr. Bakker denied being drunk and aggressive that night and described things from the perspective of a more mutual argument with Ms. Pardo. Regarding the alleged assault at the bedroom door, Mr. Bakker testified that he told Mr. Quisenberry, "I've had too much too drink. I'm sorry," and "I'm going to sleep" and Ms. Pardo pushed him away and would not let him in the bedroom TRP 544-46. Mr. Bakker conceded that he grabbed her wrists and told her to "please stop" after she kept pushing him away from the door. TRP 545-57. Mr. Bakker also admitted giving Mr. Quisenberry a "little tackle" at the door. TRP 541, 604.

Before trial, Mr. Bakker had moved to exclude evidence that Ms. Pardo had moved the steak knives from the kitchen table that night because she was afraid of Mr. Bakker grabbing them as weapons. TRP 153-54. The trial court allowed that testimony, which consisted of Ms. Pardo saying that, because Mr. Bakker was "being very aggressive," she had removed the steak knives from the table at dinner, and that she thought there was "a threat there." TRP 318. When the prosecutor asked if she was also "scared that evening," Ms. Pardo responded, "I was scared for my safety, yes." TRP 322. She claimed that Mr. Bakker had threatened to "beat the shit" out of her from the time she arrived home and she felt unsafe. TRP 322. She

also said she was afraid because he said he was going to beat her with a stick and "this was a credible threat based on prior experience." TRP 340-42.

Mr. Quisenberry, in contrast, never heard Mr. Bakker threaten to "beat" Ms. Pardo with a stick or beat the shit out of her: he only heard one threat that night. TRP 226. It was early, and Mr. Bakker had said to Ms. Pardo that "if she didn't start cooking dinner that he would knock her upside the head." TRP 226. Mr. Quisenberry said it did not actually seem like a serious threat but more of an unfunny joke. TRP 226.

In addition to the knife evidence, however, there was also evidence that Mr. Bakker lawfully possessed a gun. TRP 154-55. Counsel moved to exclude that evidence pretrial and the prosecutor declared that the State was *not* going to present testimony about the gun. TRP 153-54. The State had wanted to ask about prior alleged assaults between Ms. Pardo and Mr. Bakker but had failed to make a motion for an ER 404(b) hearing.

During trial, however, the prosecutor changed his mind. TRP 325. He now argued that the gun evidence was relevant and admissible because the gun being in the bedroom was relevant to show why Ms. Pardo did not want him in there. TRP 325. The prosecutor also averred it would not prejudice Mr. Bakker because having a firearm is not "prejudicial in and of itself." TRP 325.

Mr. Bakker objected, arguing the evidence was highly

prejudicial and improper under ER 404(b), noting that "reasonable fear" was already established by the threats of being "beat." TRP 326-27. He pointed out that jurors were likely to draw negative inferences from the exercise of the right to possess a gun, even though there was no claim Mr. Bakker had ever used or threatened to use a gun the whole night. TRP 327.

The judge held that ER 404(b) did not apply and that the prejudice did not substantially outweigh the relevance to show Ms. Pardo's "fear and concern" that night. TRP 329-30. The judge conceded it was "true that there may be other evidence" to prove that fear but was unconcerned about whether the evidence was cumulative. TRP 329-30.

Ms. Pardo then was allowed to testify that part of her concern about calling police when Mr. Quisenberry was allegedly asking her two was because there was a gun in the house. TRP 331-32. It belonged to Mr. Bakker's family and he had brought it home one day. TRP 331-32. Ms. Pardo opined that she could call the police, they might do nothing and she would be left with someone who had threatened her and hurt his own friend and "would have access to that gun." TRP 331-32. She also testified she was trying to calm Mr. Bakker the whole night but also had the goal of "still keeping him away from gun access," and to keep him "out of the bedroom throughout the evening and remove any potential access to anything that could be used in a violent manner." TRP 334.

Ms. Pardo admitted that Bakker had never threatened to use a gun on her or shoot her that night. TRP 347. The gun was in the closet and in a locked box and might have been also stored away from ammunition. TRP 346-47.

Mr. Bakker was convicted of 1) bail jumping for missing a court date while the case was pending, 2) harassment of Ms. Pardo with a "domestic violence" finding, 3) not second but fourth-degree assault of Mr. Quisenberry, and 4) fourth-degree assault of Ms. Pardo, with a "domestic violence" finding. CP 324-31.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO ADDRESS THE SCOPE AND LIMITS OF EVIDENCE RULE 404(b) WHEN THE EVIDENCE IN QUESTION IS CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED CONDUCT WHICH IS ONLY MARGINALLY RELEVANT

This case presents questions of the scope of ER 404(b) and how it is to be applied when the State seeks to introduce evidence that the accused in a criminal case lawfully owned or possessed a gun not used or threatened to be used during the crime. Further, in this case, this Court is presented with the interplay of the evidence rule and the state and federal constitutional rights regarding such "arms." This Court should grant review not only because of the apparent conflicts between the decision in this case and well-settled law regarding ER 404(b), but also because of the important constitutional rights involved.

First, the Court of Appeals holding that ER 404(b) did not

apply is contrary to holdings of this Court and reasoning regarding ER 404(b). This Court has previously recognized that evidence of even lawful gun possession or ownership by the accused is inadmissible if unrelated to the charged crime. See State v. Jeffries, 105 Wn.2d 398, 412, 717 P.2d 722, cert. denied sub nom Jeffries v. Washington. 479 U.S. 922 (1986); State v. Robinson, 24 Wn.2d 909, 167 P.2d 986 (1946); State v. Lloyd, 138 Wash. 8, 244 P. 130 (1926). This Court has also held that ER 404(b) prohibits evidence of the other "crimes, wrongs or acts" of the accused to prove they acted "in conformity" with the "character" these prior incidents seem to infer. See State v. Vy Thang, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002). But the Court has not established what standard should be applied when the State seeks to introduce evidence of lawful, constitutionally protected gun ownership or possession and the trial court refuses to apply ER 404(b).

That rule provides, in relevant part:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts, is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

ER 404(b). This rule creates a presumption against admitting evidence of "other crimes, wrongs, or acts." State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 74 P.3d 119 (2003). As this Court has noted, "[p]roperly understood," ER 404(b) is a "categorical bar" to admission of improper propensity evidence. State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405,

420-21, 269 P.3d 207 (2012).

In this case, the trial court and Court of Appeals were apparently convinced that the prejudice of the evidence was minimal, because gun ownership is not itself a "bad act." Indeed, the State argued the evidence was not subject to ER 404(b) for that reason. But this Court has already answered that question. See State v. Everybodytalksabout, 145 Wn.2d 456, 39 P.3d 294 (2002) (rejecting the State's claim that ER 404(b) is "limited to bad acts, disgraceful acts or unpopular acts").

Instead, ER 404(b) applies when the State seeks to introduce any evidence, even of lawful acts, which could be used to imply the "character" of the accused. 145 Wn.2d at 466-67. Thus, in Everybodytalksabout, there was improper propensity evidence under ER 404(b) where the State sought testimony from a defendant about "acts" designed to show the "leadership" skills of the accused to imply that he had acted in that same role in committing the charged crime. Id.

Here, the Court of Appeals held that ER 404(b) did not apply because the State was not explicitly seeking to introduce the evidence specifically to prove Mr. Bakker's "character" as a dangerous man, i.e., "because the evidence was not offered to prove conformity therewith." App. A at 9. According to Division Two, because the State did not argue the "character" part of the evidence, ER 404(b) simply did not apply. App. A at 9.

This Court should grant review. The Court of Appeals decision effectively converts ER 404(b) analysis to a subjective question of "what does the State intend." It eliminates all oversight by the courts of introduction of extremely prejudicial evidence unless the prosecution is unwise enough to admit that the offending evidence is being admitted to cast the defendant as a "dangerous man."

The Court of Appeals decision is also in stark contrast to the analysis this Court has adopted. See DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d at 17. As this Court has held, "Washington courts have developed a thorough analytical structure for the admission of evidence of a person's prior crimes, wrongs, or acts." Gresham, 173 Wn.2d at 421. In cases like DeVincentis and Gresham, this Court has established that any possible "propensity" evidence may only be introduced for limited purposes and then *only* after the trial court engages in a fourpart analysis, where it must 1) find by a preponderance the misconduct the State wants to admit had occurred, 2) identify, on the record, the permissible purpose for the evidence, 3) determine, on the record, whether the evidence is relevant to prove an essential element of the crime charged and then 4) weigh the probative value of the evidence against is prejudicial effect. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d at 421.

Under the holding of the Court of Appeals here, ER 404(b) does not apply if the State gives a reason other than propensity to

admit the evidence. But there would be no reason for the ER 404(b) analysis this Court described in <u>DeVincentis</u> and <u>Gresham</u> to be created if that is the case. There is no need for this Court to have created a four-part structure for a decision on admitting evidence under ER 404(b) if that evidence rule only applies when the State says "we want the evidence to prove character," because the rule categorically excludes all such evidence.

There would also be no need for this Court to have declared that, in questionable cases, the trial judge should err on the side of excluding evidence under ER 404(b), as this Court has done. See State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 (1986). And of course, the language of the rule itself belies the interpretaion of the Court of Appeals, providing for introduction of evidence of "other crimes, wrongs, or acts," for "other purposes" besides "character" and "conformity." ER 404(b).

This Court should grant review and should hold the ER 404(b) does, in fact, apply when the State seeks to introduce evidence of lawful gun ownership. The trial court erred in refusing to conduct the required analysis and the Court of Appeals erred in concluding that the trial court's decision was not wrong. The proper interpretation and scope of ER 404(b) is an issue of substantial public importance, as this Court's repeated grant of Petitions in cases like <u>Gresham</u> and others involving those issues has shown.

Because the Court of Appeals held ER 404(b) did not apply, it

then simply looked at the ER 403 "relevance and prejudice" analysis. The trial court did the same. TRP 339. The trial judge also ruled that it was essentially irrelevant that there was already evidence in the record to show Ms. Pardo's "reasonable fear." TRP 339.

Under ER 404(b), however, when the trial court balances the danger of unfair prejudice and the probative value of the evidence, it is required to do so "in view of the availability of other means of proof." State v. Tharp, 96 Wn.2d 591, 595, 637 P.2d 961 (1981). The evidence sought to be admitted must not only be relevant but must also be necessary to prove an essential element of the charged crime in light of the evidence already admitted. Id. Further, evidence which is cumulative of other admissible evidence is not "necessary" under the rule. Id. Thus, if the proper analysis had been applied, the trial court would have been required to consider that the State already had more than sufficient evidence of "reasonable fear" of harm for the misdemeanor harassment.

Notably, when weighing the probative value and prejudice, this Court has declared that, "substantial probative value is needed to outweight the prejudicial effect of ER 404(b) evidence."

DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d at 23.

Both the trial court and Division Two glossed over the extreme prejudice from even lawful gun ownership, with the trial judge believing that it was not "bad" to own a gun. CP 329-30. But this Court has made it clear that "[p]ersonal reactions to the

ownership of guns vary greatly" and "[m]any individuals view guns with great abhorrence and fear." Rupe, 101 Wn.2d at 708. In Rupe, the Court noted that these varying views of even lawful gun ownership share the common risk that jurors "might believe the defendant was a dangerous individual" and thus more likely guilty of the charged crime, "just because he owned guns." Id.

It is also important that both the state and federal constitution provide for gun ownership as a constitutional right. <u>Id</u>. Article 1, § 24, provides in relevant part that the "right of the individual citizen to bear arms in defense of himself, or the state, shall not be impaired[.]" The Second Amendment provides a more limited protection but still protects the right of the individual to lawfully possess guns (subject to reasonable regulation). <u>Rupe</u>, 101 Wn.2d at 706; <u>see State v. Krantz</u>, 24 Wn.2d 350, 353, 164 P.2d 453 (1945).

The intersection of the constitutional rights to gun ownership and our criminal law has required this Court to carve out specific requirements for linkage between a gun in a house an a crime. See State v. Schelin, 147 Wn.2d 562, 55 P.3d 632 (2002) (requiring a "nexus" between the defendant, the crime, and the gun, to find the

¹Article 1, § 24 provides:

The right of the individual citizen to bear arms in defense of himself, or the state, shall not be impaired, but nothing in this section shall be construed as authorizing individuals or corporations to organize, maintain or employ an armed body of men.

defendant "armed" with it for a crime committed in the house).

Where a constitutional right is involved, the State is prohibited from 1) taking action which will unnecessarily penalize or "chill" the exercise of the right, or 2) draw any adverse inference from that exercise. See Griffin v. California, 380 U.S. 609, 614, 85 S. Ct. 1229, 14 L. Ed. 2d 106 (1965) (negative inference from failure to testify); State v. Frampton, 95 Wn.2d 469, 627 P.2d 922 (1981) (striking old death penalty statute for needlessly chilling the right to demand a jury trial). The impermissible use of constitutionally protected behavior is a violation of due process. Rupe, 101 Wn.2d at 706.

It is true that, in general, ER 404(b) issues are not considered constitutional. See, State v. Jackson, 102 Wn.2d 689, 696, 689 P.2d 76 (1984). Where, as here, the State seeks to introduce evidence that a defendant has exercised his constitutional right to lawfully have a gun against the accused at trial, this Court has not yet held that special scrutiny is required. But because of the possible chilling effect to those rights and to avoid the risk of improper use of the evidence the defendant exercised those rights, this Court should give special scrutiny to the admission of that evidence. This Court should grant review, hold that ER 404(b) applied and that the evidence was inadmissible under the rule in this case.

F. **CONCLUSION**

Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals erred in holding that ER 404(b) does not apply where, as here, the State seeks to introduce evidence of the constitutionally protected conduct of lawful gun ownership or possession against the accused at trial. This Court should grant review and should so hold, applying special scrutiny because of the constitutional rights involved.