FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/26/2021 3:15 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99599-1 COA No. 53433-9-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

DANIEL P. BAKKER Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Carol Murphy, Judge Cause No. 18-1-00641-34

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph J.A. Jackson Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

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

C. ARGUMENT

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Bakker argues the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with other case law and that important constitutional rights are involved; however, the decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with prior case law. There is no reason that this Court should accept review.

1. The holding of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with this Court's prior holdings regarding ER 404(b), and properly followed case law regarding the admission of evidence related to the constitutional right to bear arms.

ER 404(b) states, "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith." The State merely elicited evidence that there was a firearm in the residence during the incidents in question, which Pardo actively sought to limit access to due to her concerns based on Bakker's threats of bodily injury. There was no other crime, wrong or act elicited. Pardo herself testified that the firearm was not used and no act utilizing the firearm occurred. RP 346-347. In finding that the trial court did not err by holding that ER 404(b) applied, the Court of Appeals discussed and distinguished this case from the holdings of State v. Everybodytalksabout, 145 Wn.2d 345, 39 P.3d 294 (2002), State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 163 P.3d 786 (2007), and State v. Rupe, 101 Wn.2d 664, 703, 682 P.2d 571 (1984). Unpublished Opinion at 6.

In <u>State v. Everybodytalksabout</u>, this Court held that evidence that the defendant acted in a leadership capacity between 1992 and the beginning of 1996 was an irrelevant act, prohibited as

a prior act under ER 404(b), because it was offered to show that he acted in conformity therewith during acts that occurred in February of 1996. 145 Wn.2d at 468.

In <u>State v. Foxhaven</u>, 161 Wn.2d 168, 171, 174-175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007), this Court held that evidence that the defendant had used graffiti tags on previous occasion was evidence of an act likely to be used as propensity or character evidence to prove malicious mischief by graffiti. In discussing the graffiti tags, the Court stated, "In our judgment, all of the evidence at issue here is prohibited by ER 404(b) if offered to prove character." 161 Wn.2d at 175.

In <u>State v. Rupe</u>, the prosecutor admitted evidence of the defendant's gun collection during his sentencing hearing in a death penalty case. The prosecutor argued that the gun collection gave the jury an "insight into his personality, because the guns he owned were good for only one purpose, killing others in combat." 101 Wn.2d at 703-704. Our Supreme Court held that, by "arguing that defendant's exercise of that constitutional right meant that he deserved the death penalty, the State attempted to draw adverse inferences from defendant's mere possession of these weapons." *Id.* at 707. The case was not decided under ER 404(b), but on

constitutional grounds. The Court found that the argument violated Rupe's WA Const. Article 1, §24 right to bear arms. *Id.* at 706-707.

Rupe was later discussed in State v. Hancock, 109 Wn.2d 760, 767-768, 748 P.2d 611 (1988), where this Court noted,

the essential inquiry is relevance. Where a defendant's ownership of a gun is relevant to an issue at stake in the trial, we recognize no special rule that would prevent that evidence from being admitted. The problem in *Rupe* was that the prosecutor sought to admit evidence of the defendant's gun collection in the sentencing proceeding for the sole purpose of portraying the defendant as an extremely dangerous individual.

The Court of Appeals correctly followed the holdings of those cases to find that the evidence admitted in this case did not fall under ER 404(b) because it was not offered to demonstrate character.

That decision also does not conflict with State v. Jeffries, 105 Wn.2d 398, 412, 717 P.2d 722, cert. denied, 479 U.S. 922, 107 S.Ct. 328, 93 L.Ed.2d 301 (1986), State v. Robinson, 24 Wn.2d 909, 167 P.2d 986 (1946), or State v. Lloyd, 138 Wash. 8, 244 P. 130 (1926). In Jeffries, the defendant objected to the admission of evidence that he had been in possession of a .22 caliber rifle and .22 caliber bullets arguing that the decisions in Robinson and Lloyd held that weapons that are not used in the crime are inadmissible. The Jeffries Court stated, "The cases, however, do not support that

proposition. Instead they hold that weapons unrelated to the case are not admissible." 105 Wn.2d at 412. Consistent with those cases, the Court of Appeals in this case noted,

Here, the fact that Pardo knew there was a gun in the bedroom was highly probative and necessary for a jury to understand why she so desperately tried to keep Bakker out of the bedroom. Bakker was exhibiting an alcohol-fueled rage that night, and a major source of his aggression was from Pardo blocking his entry into the bedroom. A jury would need to understand Pardo's state of mind to judge whether or not her fear of Bakker was reasonable, including whether she had good reason to fear letting him into the bedroom.

<u>Unpublished Opinion</u> at 7. To use the language of <u>Jeffries</u>, the Court of Appeals correctly found that the presence of the weapon was related to the case at issue.

The fact that the evidence involved a gun did not improperly infringe upon the constitutional right to bear arms. As this Court noted in Hancock, "the essential inquiry is relevance." Hancock, 109 Wn.2d 760. The Court of Appeals in this case properly considered the relevance of the testimony and properly found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding that the probative value outweighed the potential prejudice.

2. The Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's ruling was not inconsistent with case law and the trial

<u>court properly balanced the risk of unfair prejudice</u> <u>against the probative value.</u>

The trial court has wide discretion when balancing the probative value of evidence against the potential affect. State v. Bajardi, 3 Wn. App.2d 726, 730, 418 P.3d 164 (2018). A trail court's decision to admit evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Lord, 161 Wn.2d 276, 294, 165 P.3d 1251 (2007). As noted above, the Court of Appeals correctly noted that the evidence that a gun was in the bedroom was highly relevant in explaining Pardo's fear during the incident in question. Unpublished Opinion at 7. After noting the probative value, the Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the evidence.

Bakker argues that the decision is contrary to <u>State v. Tharp</u>, 96 Wn.2d 591, 697 P.2d 961 (1981), but an analysis of the <u>Tharp</u> decision quickly reveals that it is not analogous to this case. In <u>Tharp</u>, the trial court did not engage in a balancing test before admitting evidence that the defendant had a prior conviction for auto theft and was on furlough at that time of the offense. <u>Id</u>. at 597-598. This Court stated, "the trial court should weigh the

necessity for its admission against the prejudice that it may

engender in the minds of the jury." Id. at 587.

In this case, the trial court did engage in the balancing test.

RP 329-330. While there may have been additional evidence that

Pardo was afraid of Bakker's threats, there was no other evidence

to explain why she was attempting to prevent Bakker from entering

the bedroom in the face of his threats. The trial court did not abuse

its discretion in admitting the evidence and the Court of Appeals

properly upheld the trial court's ruling.

D. CONCLUSION

The decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with this

Court's jurisprudence regarding ER 404(b) as applied to

possession of weapons. The State respectfully request that this

Court deny review of the Court of Appeals decision.